



Guidance

Procedural Guide: Planning appeals – England

Updated 17 September 2024

Applies to England

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Right to appeal
- 3. Before making an appeal
- 4. Time limits for making an appeal
- 5. How to make an appeal
- 6. After the appeal is submitted
- 7. How the decision is made
- 8 The role of interested people
- 9. Written representations
- 10. Hearings
- 11. Inquiries
- 12. Statement of case
- 13. Statement of common ground
- 14. Advertisement and discontinuance notice appeals

- 15. Expert evidence
- 16. Amending the proposed scheme once an appeal has been made
- 17. Planning conditions
- 18. Planning obligations
- 19. The decision
- 20. Complaints, challenges and feedback
- 21. Contacting us
- 22. Getting help
- 23. How we use your personal information



© Crown copyright 2024

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit <u>nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3</u> or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: <u>psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk</u>.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-appeals-procedural-guide/f90d5f21-de2c-43cd-b743-6c81b9a1b70f

1. Introduction

- 1.1. The content of this document is guidance only with no legal status. However, everyone should follow the general principles, as will Inspectors who may adapt them as necessary for an individual appeal whilst ensuring that no party is prejudiced. It should be read alongside the Planning Planning Practice Guidance (http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/) published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).
- 1.2. Unless otherwise specified, this guidance applies to:
- planning appeals
- householder development appeals
- · minor commercial appeals
- listed building appeals
- advertisement appeals
- discontinuance notice appeals.

2. Right to appeal

- 2.1. Under <u>section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/78)</u>, an applicant for planning permission can make an appeal to us if:
- Their planning application was refused by the local planning authority (LPA)
- Or their planning application was granted subject to conditions which the applicant objects to
- Or the LPA failed to determine the planning application within their deadline for doing so – this is known as 'non-determination' (please see 4.3 for LPAs' deadlines to decide different types of planning applications)
- 2.2. Under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended)

(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/section/20), an applicant for listed building consent can make an appeal to us if:

- Their application was refused by the LPA
- Or their application was granted subject to conditions which the applicant objects to
- Or the LPA failed to determine the application within their deadline for doing so – this is known as 'non-determination' (please see 4.3 for LPAs' deadlines to decide different types of planning applications)

3. Before making an appeal

3.1. Responsibilities of the appellant, the LPA and other parties

- 3.1.1. If an applicant thinks that amending their application will overcome the LPA's reasons for refusal, they should normally make a new planning application. The LPA should be open to discussions on whether it is likely to view an amended application favourably.
- 3.1.2. Making an appeal should not be used as a bargaining tactic but only as the last resort. The person making the appeal ('the appellant') should be confident at the time they make their appeal that they are able to make their full case.
- 3.1.3. When refusing an application, the LPA should consider carefully whether it has a sufficiently strong case which they can argue if an appeal is made.

3.2. Costs

- 3.2.1. All parties are expected to meet their own appeal expenses.
- 3.2.2. If a party does not behave reasonably, they leave themselves open to costs being awarded against them. This would be on the basis that their unreasonable behaviour had directly caused another party to incur expenses that would not otherwise have been necessary.
- 3.2.3. Costs may be awarded in response to an application for costs by one of the parties. Also, costs may be awarded at the initiative of the Inspector.
- 3.2.4. There is guidance about costs awards in the <u>Planning Practice</u> <u>Guidance (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/appeals#the-award-of-costs--general)</u>. The appellant should read the information about making an application for costs before they make their appeal.
- 3.2.5. If a party wishes to make a costs application, we provide a <u>template</u> (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apply-for-an-award-of-appeal-costs-application-form).

3.3. Eligibility for making an appeal

3.3.1. Only the person who made the planning application can make an appeal.

4. Time limits for making an appeal

4.1. There are different time limits to make an appeal depending on the type of appeal and the circumstances (if enforcement action has been taken, a shorter timeline may apply – please see paragraph 4.2):

Type of appeal and circumstance	Time limit
An appeal against refusal of a householder planning application (See 9.2 for what counts as a householder application)	We must receive the appeal within 12 weeks from the date on the decision notice
An appeal against the LPA's failure to determine a householder planning application	We must receive the appeal within 6 months from the expiry of the period which the LPA had to determine the application (please see 4.3 for the LPA's deadline for deciding the application)
An appeal against the grant of permission on a householder planning application subject to conditions which the applicant objects to	We must receive the appeal within 6 months from the date on the decision notice
An appeal against refusal of an application for minor commercial development (See 9.3 for what counts as minor commercial development)	We must receive the appeal within 12 weeks from the date on the decision notice
An appeal against the LPA's failure to determine an application for minor commercial development	We must receive the appeal within 6 months from the expiry of the period which the LPA had to determine the application

Type of appeal and circumstance	Time limit
	(please see 4.3 for the LPA's deadline for deciding the application)
An appeal against the grant of permission on an application for minor commercial development subject to conditions to which the applicant objects	We must receive the appeal within 6 months from the date on the decision notice
An appeal in relation to an application for advertisement consent	We must receive the appeal within 8 weeks from the date on the decision notice or if the appeal is against the LPA's failure to decide the application, 8 weeks from the expiry of the period which the LPA had to determine the application please see 4.3 for the LPA's deadline for deciding the application)
An appeal against a discontinuance notice	We must receive the appeal before the effective date on the notice
All other appeal types (for example, other planning applications or applications for listed building consent)	We must receive the appeal within 6 months from the date on the decision notice or within 6 months from the expiry of the period which the LPA had to determine the application (please see 4.3 for the LPA's deadline for deciding the application)

If we do not receive your appeal and supporting documents within the time limit, we will not accept the appeal.

- 4.2. However, if an enforcement notice has been served on the same or very similar development as the development which the application relates to, a shorter timeline may apply:
- If the enforcement notice was served before the date the decision on the
 application was made or before the date by which the LPA should have
 made their decision but not longer than 2 years before the application
 was made, we must receive the appeal within 28 days from the date
 of the LPA's decision notice or the date by which the LPA should
 have decided the application
- If the enforcement notice was served after the date the decision on the application was made or after the date by which the LPA should have

made their decision and the enforcement notice was served earlier than 28 days before the expiry of the period within which the appellant can make their appeal (depending on the appeal type and circumstances – see table in 4.1), we must receive the appeal within 28 days from the date the enforcement notice was served

4.3. There are different time limits for the LPA to decide a planning application:

Type of application and circumstance	Time limit
A standard application for planning permission (including an application for householder development and minor commercial development)	The LPA must decide a valid application within 8 weeks starting with the day after the date the LPA received the application, or any extended period agreed in writing between applicant and LPA
An application for advertisement consent	The LPA must decide the application within 8 weeks starting with the day they received the application
An application for major development (see section 2 of The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) for what counts as major development)	The LPA must determine a valid application within 13 weeks starting with the day after the date the LPA received the application, or any extended period agreed in writing between applicant and LPA
An application where an environmental impact assessment is required	The LPA must determine a valid application within 16 weeks starting with the day after the date the LPA received the application, or any extended period agreed in writing between applicant and LPA
An application for technical details consent for major development	The LPA must determine a valid application within 10 weeks starting with the day after the date the LPA received the application, or any extended period agreed in writing between applicant and LPA

Type of application and circumstance	Time limit
An application for technical details consent which is not major development	The LPA must determine a valid application within 5 weeks starting with the day after the date the LPA received the application, or any extended period agreed in writing between applicant and LPA
An application for prior approval of a large single storey rear extension	The LPA must determine a valid application within 42 days starting with the day after the date the LPA received the application, or any extended period agreed in writing between applicant and LPA

5. How to make an appeal

- 5.1. Wherever possible the appellant should make their appeal(s) online through the <u>appeal a planning decision service (https://appeal-planning-decision.service.gov.uk/before-you-start)</u>.
- 5.2 Appellants should use our 'How to' guides to complete the appeal form. The guides contain important advice on what information should be provided on the appeal form and which supporting documents are necessary. There are different 'How to' guides for different appeal types:
- How to complete your planning appeal form England
 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
- How to complete your householder planning appeal form England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/householder-planning-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
- How to complete your listed building consent appeal form England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/listed-building-consent-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
- How to complete your advertisement/discontinuance notice appeals form

 England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advertisement-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
- 5.3. Please see our guidance on system requirements and submitting documents (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/appealing-to-the-planning-

inspectorate-communicating-electronically-with-us/appealing-to-the-planning-inspectorate-communicating-electronically-with-us).

- 5.4. If someone considering making an appeal does not have access to the internet, they should contact us (see 21), and we will send them the relevant appeal form.
- 5.5. We must receive the completed appeal form along with the essential supporting documents before the time limit for making an appeal (see 4).
- 5.6. If an appellant wants to make an appeal in relation to more than one application, they must make a separate appeal for each application.
- 5.7. Appellants must send a copy of the appeal form and supporting documents to us and to the LPA.

6. After the appeal is submitted

6.1. Validation

- 6.1.1. Once an appeal has been submitted, we will check whether it is valid. If the appeal is valid, we will confirm to the LPA and the appellant:
- the procedure the appeal will follow
- the appeal start date
- the timetable for the appeal
- the address to which all correspondence should be sent.

6.2. Procedure determination

- 6.2.1. There are 3 procedures for handling appeals: written representations, hearings and inquiries. These procedures are explained in 9, 10 and 11.
- 6.2.2. The Planning Inspectorate decide which procedure each appeal will follow.
- 6.2.3. In making our decision, we will consider the views of the appellant and the LPA and the criteria for procedure determination

(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criteria-for-determining-the-procedure-for-planning-enforcement-advertisement-and-discontinuance-notice-appeals).

- 6.2.4. Where our choice differs from that of the LPA and appellant, we will explain the reasons for our choice.
- 6.2.5. The appellant and the LPA can ask for the choice to be reviewed by a senior officer.
- 6.2.6. We keep our choice of procedure under review throughout the appeal. Subject to notification and procedural requirements, we may change the procedure. We may also, either at the start or at any point throughout the appeal, combine procedures.

6.3. Combining procedures

- 6.3.1. The Business and Planning Act 2020
- (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/16/contents/enacted) allows us to 'combine' procedures. For example, if we decide that an appeal should follow the inquiry procedure, we may choose, based on the <u>criteria for procedure determination (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criteria-for-determining-the-procedure-for-planning-enforcement-advertisement-and-discontinuance-notice-appeals)</u>, to deal with certain issues by written representations.
- 6.3.2. Appeals proceeding by written representations will not normally be combined with other procedures
- 6.3.3. It is for us to decide whether combining procedures is appropriate and how it would work (for example, which procedures are combined, what the timetable would be and so on). If we are considering combining procedures, we will invite the parties to comment before any final decision is taken.
- 6.3.4. We keep the procedure choice, including combined procedures, under review. Subject to any notification and procedural requirement, we may change it at any point before the appeal decision is made.

7. How the decision is made

7.1. The decision-maker

- 7.1.1. Under <u>section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990</u> (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/78), the original applicant has a right to make an appeal to the Secretary of State. Through legislation, for almost all appeals, the authority 'the jurisdiction'- to decide an appeal has been transferred to an Inspector.
- 7.1.2. In a very small number of cases, the Secretary of State may 'recover' the jurisdiction to decide the appeal. This is usually for very large or contentious appeals. See the <u>criteria in the planning practice guidance</u> (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/appeals#planning-appeals--general) used to decide if an appeal should be recovered.
- 7.1.3. The appeal may be recovered at any stage before the decision is issued even after a site visit, hearing or inquiry has taken place.

7.2. If an appeal is recovered

- 7.2.1. If an appeal is recovered, we will write to tell the appellant and the LPA setting out the reasons for this.
- 7.2.2. A recovered appeal can proceed by written representations, hearing or inquiry or a combination of procedures and will follow the rules for each procedure (see 9, 10 and 11).
- 7.2.3. The Inspector will write a report which contains their recommendations on whether the appeal should be allowed or dismissed. The Secretary of State takes in to account the Inspector's report when making their decision. The parties involved in the appeal will be told the expected date of the Secretary of State's decision when the Inspector's report is submitted to the Secretary of State.
- 7.2.4. The Secretary of State's decision will be published in a letter by MHCLG. The letter will be available to view on either MHCLG's area of the GOV.UK website (https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/Ministry-of-Housing-Communities-and-Local-Government) or online using the search facility (https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/).

7.3. What the Inspector takes into account

7.3.1. The Inspector will make their decision (or the report and recommendation to the Secretary of State for a recovered appeal) based on

the circumstances at the time they make their decision. For example, site conditions, scientific knowledge or planning policy may have changed since the application was made.

- 7.3.2. The Inspector will take account of:
- the material submitted to the LPA
- all the appeal documents
- any relevant legislation and policies including changes to legislation, any new Government policy or guidance and any new or emerging development plan policies since the LPA's decision was issued
- any other relevant matters
- and should the site visit be undertaken by their representative, their recommendations

8 The role of interested people

- 8.1. People who are interested in the outcome of an appeal but are not one of the appeal parties play an important role in appeals. Their views in support of, or opposition to, a proposed scheme are taken into account by the Inspector.
- 8.2. Interested people are also sometimes called 'third parties', 'interested parties' or 'interested persons'.
- 8.3. Interested people are notified by the LPA that the appeal is taking place.
- 8.4. In most appeals, interested people can make 'representations' (comments) during the appeal. The exception is where the appeal follows the part 1 written representations procedure (See 9.4) please note that if interested people made comments on the application, these will be considered by the Inspector during the appeal.
- 8.5. Interested people will not be sent copies of representations made by the appellant, LPA and other interested people. These documents may be made available for inspection by the LPA.
- 8.6. The following guides explain how interested people can take part in appeals:
- Planning appeals dealt with by written representations: taking part (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-appeals-dealt-with-by-written-representations-taking-part)

- Planning appeals dealt with by hearing: taking part
 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-appeals-dealt-with-by-a-hearing-taking-part)
- Planning appeals dealt with by inquiry: taking part
 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-appeals-dealt-with-by-an-inquiry-taking-part)

9. Written representations

9.1. Introduction

- 9.1.1. In the written representations procedure, the Inspector will decide the appeal based on written material provided by all parties. The Inspector will usually visit the appeal site although in some cases the visit may be undertaken by a representative of the Inspector. This is normally the simplest, quickest and most straightforward way of making an appeal. Most planning appeals proceed by the written procedure.
- 9.1.2. The Town and Country Planning (Appeals) (Written Representations Procedure) (England) Regulations 2009 (Statutory Instrument 2009/452) (as amended) (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/452/contents/made) provide for 2 different written representations procedures which a planning appeal can follow:
- The part 1 procedure see 9.4 for an explanation of this procedure
- The part 2 procedure see 9.5 for an explanation of this procedure
- 9.1.3. The following types of appeals will usually follow the part 1 procedure:
- appeals against the **refusal** of householder applications for planning permission or applications for any consent, agreement or approval required by or under a planning permission, development order or local development order in relation to such development (see 9.2)
- appeals against **refusal** of express consent to display an advertisement
- appeals against refusal of a minor commercial (shop front) application (see 9.3)
- appeals against refusal to remove or vary a condition or conditions attached to a previous planning permission for householder or minor commercial (shop front) development or advertisement consent
- 9.1.4. However, a few exceptions may apply:

- Sometimes we may decide that an appeal which usually follows the part 1
 procedure should instead follow a different procedure the part 2
 procedure, a hearing or an inquiry
- Where the 28-day time limit applies due to enforcement action (see 4.2) on an appeal that usually follows the part 1 procedure, the appeal will not follow the part 1 procedure
- 9.1.5. **Any other written representations appeal**, apart from the types of appeal outlined in 9.1.3, will follow the part 2 procedure. This includes:
- Appeals where the application does not meet the definition of a householder or minor commercial development
- Appeals against a discontinuance notice
- appeals where the LPA has failed to make a decision (non-determination)
- appeals against the decision of the LPA to impose a condition or conditions on a planning permission

9.2. Definition of a householder application

- 9.2.1. A householder application, as defined in in <u>article 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/2/made) (DMPO), means:</u>
- an application for planning permission for development of an existing dwellinghouse, or development within the curtilage of such a dwellinghouse for any purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse – for example, dwellinghouse extensions, alterations, garages, swimming pools, walls, fences, vehicular access, porches and satellite dishes
- or an application for any consent, agreement or approval required by or under a planning permission, development order or local development order in relation to such development – for example, an application for prior approval of a larger single-storey rear extension

9.2.2. This does **not** include:

- an application for change of use
- an application to change the number of dwellings in a building

9.3 Definition of a minor commercial application

- 9.3.1. A minor commercial application, also defined by article 2, means:
- an application for planning permission for development of an existing building or part of a building currently in use for any of the purposes falling within Part A of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (UCO) – for example, ground floor security shutters or any other ground floor level external alterations
- an application for any consent, agreement or approval required by or under a planning permission, development order or local development order in relation to such development

9.3.2. This does **not** include an application for:

- · change of use
- change to the number of units in a building
- development that is not wholly at ground floor level or that would increase the gross internal area of a building

9.3.3. Part A of the Schedule to the UCO 1987 is as follows:

Class A1. Shops

Use for all or any of the following purposes — (a) for the retail sale of goods other than hot food, (b) as a post office, (c) for the sale of tickets or as a travel agency, (d) for the sale of sandwiches or other cold food for consumption off the premises, (e) for hairdressing, (f) for the direction of funerals, (g) for the display of goods for sale, (h) for the hiring out of domestic or personal goods or articles, (i) for the washing or cleaning of clothes or fabrics on the premises, (j) for the reception of goods to be washed, cleaned or repaired, (k) as an internet café, where the primary purpose of the premises is to provide facilities for enabling members of the public to access the internet; where the sale, display or service is to visiting members of the public.

Class A2. Financial and professional services

Use for the provision of — (a) financial services, or (b) professional services (other than health or medical services), or (c) any other services (including use as a betting office) which it is appropriate to provide in a shopping area, where the services are provided principally to visiting members of the public.

Class A3. Restaurants and cafes

Use for the sale of food and drink for consumption on the premises.

Class A4. Drinking establishments

Use as a public house, wine-bar or other drinking establishment.

Class A5. Hot food takeaways

Use for the sale of hot food for consumption off the premises.

9.3.4. Please note that although Part A was revoked by the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/757/contents/made), article 5 (a) of those regulations specifies that for the purposes of article 2 of the DMPO, any references to the uses or use classes specified in the Schedule to the UCO (including part A) are to be read as if those references were to the uses or use classes which applied in England and were specified in the Schedule to the UCO on 31 August 2020. That is, before it was revoked.

9.4. The Part 1 procedure

9.4.1. Timetable

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant	LPA
Appeal received by us. We set the start date and the timetable (See 9.4.3)		Sends the appeal form, all supporting documents and any application for costs to us and to the LPA (See 9.4.2). The appeal representations should make up the full case	The LPA receives a copy of the appeal
5 working days after the start date	No opportunity to comment (See 8.4.6)		The LPA sends us its completed questionnaire and all application documents (See 9.4.4). Notifies interested people of the appeal (See 9.4.5) and explains there is no opportunity for

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant	LPA
			further representations
Inspector usually visits the site (See 9.4.6) and the decision is issued later			

9.4.2. The appellant

9.4.2.1. The appellant must submit:

- Their appeal including their grounds of appeal
- A copy of the planning application
- The LPA's decision notice
- Any other essential supporting documents
- 9.4.2.2. Please use the following guides for further information on how to complete your appeal and what documents to include (for example, what to include in your grounds of appeal):
- How to complete your planning appeal form England
 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
 (this guide includes advice on completing a minor commercial appeal)
- How to complete your householder planning appeal form England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/householder-planning-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
- How to complete your advertisement/discontinuance notice appeals form

 England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advertisement-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
- 9.4.2.3. We must receive the appeal within the time limit. The time limits for different types of appeal are outlined in 4.1.
- 9.4.2.4. After the appellant has submitted their appeal to us, they must also copy their appeal to the LPA.
- 9.4.2.5. Having made their appeal, the appellant will not normally be able to send any further material unless further information or response is

requested by the Inspector.

9.4.2.6. If your appeal relates to an application for advertisement consent or a discontinuance notice, please consider the guidance in section 14.

9.4.3. Once we receive an appeal

- 9.4.3.1. Within 7 days of receiving a valid appeal we will determine whether the appeal is suitable for the Part 1 procedure. If it is, we will confirm to the appellant and the LPA:
- the appeal reference number
- that the appeal will proceed by way of the Part 1 procedure
- 9.4.3.2 The date of this notification letter will be the start date for the appeal.
- 9.4.3.3 If we determine, at this stage or later, that the appeal is not suitable for the Part 1 procedure we will notify the appellant and the LPA and explain what procedure the appeal will follow.

9.4.4. LPA Questionnaire

- 9.4.4.1. The LPA must send a completed questionnaire and all relevant documents to us and the appellant within 5 working days of the start date.
- 9.4.4.2. The LPA must indicate on the questionnaire what appeal procedure it considers appropriate, taking account of the <u>criteria for procedure</u> <u>determination (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criteria-for-determining-the-procedure-for-planning-enforcement-advertisement-and-discontinuance-notice-appeals)</u>. If this differs from that determined by us, we will review the procedure.
- 9.4.4.3. The LPA's case will be its reasons for refusal and the documentation supplied with the questionnaire. The LPA's reasons for refusal should be clear and, where the Committee's decision goes against the planning officer's recommendation, it is good practice for the reasons for this to be stated clearly in the Committee minutes. This means that if an appeal is made the LPA's documentation will contain all its reasons and if the appellant arranges to view the documentation before they make their appeal, they will be aware of the full background to the refusal. With its documentation the LPA should identify any factual error in the appellant's grounds of appeal and any new material which were not available at the time it made its decision on the application.
- 9.4.4.4. The LPA will not normally be able to send any further material after it submits the questionnaire unless further information or response is required and requested by the Inspector.

9.4.5. Notification to interested people

- 9.4.5.1. Within 5 working days of the start date the LPA must notify interested people:
- that an appeal has been made
- that any representations made to the LPA in relation to the application, will be sent to the Planning Inspectorate and the appellant, and will be considered by the Inspector when deciding the appeal
- how they can withdraw their representations if they wish to do so
- that the decision will be published online
- Indicate that additional evidence may have been submitted with the appeal that they may not have previously seen.
- 9.4.5.2. The LPA will have informed interested people at the application stage that in the event of an appeal, there normally will be no further opportunity to make representations at appeal stage.
- 9.4.5.3. We encourage LPA's to use the <u>online model notification letter</u> (<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-appeals-model-notification-letters-for-local-planning-authorities</u>).

9.4.6. Site visit

- 9.4.6.1. Visits to the appeal site and any relevant neighbouring land or properties are normally carried out where it is necessary to assess the impact of a development on its surroundings. The purpose of the visit is solely to enable the site and its surroundings to be viewed.
- 9.4.6.2. Where the site is sufficiently visible from a road or other public viewpoints the visit will be carried out unaccompanied. This is likely to be the case for most advertisement consent appeals and minor commercial appeals.
- 9.4.6.3. If access to the site is clearly required, we will contact the appellant/agent with a date and usually a morning or afternoon time slot when the Inspector or their representative will carry out the site visit.
- 9.4.6.4. Similar arrangements will be made with individual neighbours where it is necessary to view the site from their property. The LPA should advise us (when completing the questionnaire) and the neighbour concerned if it is certain of such a need and provide us with the neighbour's contact details.
- 9.4.6.5. If the appellant's or agent's presence is required at the appeal site, it will be required solely to provide access to the site. The LPA will not attend the site visit.
- 9.4.6.6. Where, during an unaccompanied site visit, the Inspector or their representative decides that they need to access the site, they may

approach the occupants to gain permission/access.

9.4.6.7. A site visit is not an opportunity for anyone present to discuss the merits of the appeal or the written evidence they may have previously provided. The Inspector or their representative will therefore not allow any discussion about the case with anyone at a site visit.

9.4.7. Audio/video evidence

9.4.7.1. We will return any audio/video evidence sent to us. We cannot accept audio or video evidence, as we cannot be sure that everyone involved has the same version or that they have the equipment needed to access the evidence. However, you may send a written summary.

9.4.8. Late documents

- 9.4.8.1. Sticking to the timetable is important for appeals to proceed quickly and fairly. Our start letters will include the dates by which documents, and comments must be received by us.
- 9.4.8.2. If we receive documents after the statutory time limits explained in this guide, normally we will return them, and they will not be seen by the Inspector. The Inspector will not accept any documents at the site visit.
- 9.4.8.3. Where there is a change in circumstances, we will consider accepting late documents. This includes but is not limited to:
- New or emerging policies the LPA must alert us in writing, as soon as possible, of any newly adopted or emerging policies that are relevant to the appeal - it should indicate the anticipated date of adoption of any emerging policy (the appellant may also do this in writing)
- A relevant decision is made on another case the LPA must alert us in writing, as soon as possible, if it makes a decision (either to grant or refuse planning permission or to issue an enforcement notice) on a similar development and it should alert us if it becomes aware of a decision on an appeal that is relevant (the appellant may also do this in writing)
- New legislation or national policy If anyone considers that changes to legislation or Government policy or guidance are a material consideration, they should inform us, in writing, as soon as possible.
- 9.4.8.4. Late evidence will only be accepted if, in addition to it being related to a change in circumstances as set out above, the following also applies:
- the content the content is not covered in evidence already received
- it is directly relevant
- it would be procedurally fair to all parties.

9.4.9. Postponements, adjournments and abeyance

9.4.9.1. Unless there are exceptional reasons, we will refuse requests to postpone the appeal or put it in abeyance. Appellants should therefore not make their appeal until they are ready to proceed to the decision.

9.4.10. Linked appeals

9.4.10.1. In some circumstances, we may decide to link appeals. For example, when multiple appeals relate to the same development.

9.4.10.2. We will make decisions to link on a case-by-case basis.

9.4.11. Use of artificial intelligence (AI) in casework evidence

9.4.11.1. If you use AI to create or alter any part of your documents, information, or data, you should tell us that you have done this when you provide the material to us. See the detailed guidance for further information (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/use-of-artificial-intelligence-in-casework-evidence).

9.5. Part 2 procedure

9.5.1. Timetables

9.5.1.1. Appeals following the part 2 procedure will follow this timetable:

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant	LPA
Appeal received by us. We set the start date and the timetable (See 9.4.3)		Sends the appeal form with their full statement of case and all supporting documents to us and the LPA (see 9.5.2). The appeal statement of case must make up their full case. For certain types of development, the Inspector may require specific further information (see 12). If there is one, sends us a copy	Receives the appeal documents

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant	LPA
		of the certified planning obligation (see 9.5.7).	
Within 1 week from the start date	Receive the LPA's letter about the appeal, telling them that they must send us any representations within 5 weeks from the start date (see 9.5.3)	Receives a completed questionnaire and any supporting documents from the LPA (see 9.5.4)	Sends the appellant and us a completed questionnaire and supporting documents. It writes to interested people about the appeal (see 9.5.4 and 9.5.3).
Within 5 weeks from the start date	Send their representations to us (see 9.5.6)		If the LPA decides not to treat the questionnaire and supporting documents as its representations it sends us its full statement of case (see 9.5.5)
Within 7 weeks from the start date		Sends us their final comments on the LPA's full statement of case and on any representations from interested people. No new evidence is allowed	Sends us its final comments on any representations from interested people (see 9.5.7). No new evidence is allowed

9.5.1.2. However, in the following circumstances:

- the time limit of 28 days applies (see 4.2)
- the appeal is an advertisement appeal against the grant of consent subject to conditions which the applicant objects to or the LPA's failure to determine the application within the relevant time period
- we have decided that an appeal against the refusal of advertisement consent should not follow the part 1 procedure (see 9.1.3-9.1.4)

• the appeal is in relation to a discontinuance notice

if we decide that the appeal should be determined by written representations, it will follow a different timetable:

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant	LPA
Appeal received by us. We set the start date and the timetable		Sends the appeal form and all supporting documents to us and the LPA.If there is one, sends us a copy of the certified planning obligation (see 9.5.7).	Receives the appeal documents
Within 2 week from the start date	Receive the LPA's letter about the appeal, telling them that they must send us any representations within 6 weeks from the start date	Receives a completed questionnaire and any supporting documents from the LPA	Sends the appellant and us a completed questionnaire and supporting documents. It writes to interested people about the appeal
Within 6 weeks from the start date	Send their representations to us	Sends us any further representations. These should relate only to issues raised by the questionnaire and any supporting documents	If the LPA decides not to treat the questionnaire and supporting documents as its representations it sends us its further representations
Within 9 weeks from the start date		Sends us their final comments on the LPA's representations and on any representations from interested people. No new	Sends us its final comments on the appellant's representations and on any representations from interested people. No new

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant	LPA
		evidence is allowed	evidence is allowed
Inspector visits the site (if this is deemed necessary) and the decision is issued			

although the following section explains the timetable in 9.5.1.1, the same principles apply to this timetable.

9.5.2. The appellant

- 9.5.2.1. The appellant must submit: * Their appeal including their statement of case (see 12 for further information on the statement of case) * A copy of the planning application * The LPA's decision notice (if they issued a decision) * Any other essential supporting documents
- 9.5.2.2. Please use the following guides for further information on how to complete your appeal and what documents to include:
- How to complete your planning appeal form England
 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
- How to complete your advertisement/discontinuance notice appeals form

 England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advertisement-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
- 9.5.2.3. We must receive the appeal within the time limit. The time limits for different types of appeal are outlined in 4.1.
- 9.5.2.4. After the appellant has submitted their appeal to us, they must also copy their appeal to the LPA.
- 9.5.2.5. In general, appeals are determined on the same basis as the original application. Therefore, the appellant's submissions, including the statement of case, should not normally include new evidence or additional technical data not previously seen by the LPA and interested parties at the application stage. The appellant may open themselves up to an award of costs if new evidence that could have been anticipated as being relevant to the assessment of the planning application is submitted with the appeal

(e.g. it was identified in pre applications discussions, set out in relevant policies and guidance etc...). This is especially so when an application has been refused in the absence of information and that information is then supplied at the appeal stage. There is no opportunity to add to the full statement of case later so the appellant should only make their appeal when they are sure they have finalised their case. The appellant should clearly identify any new evidence that is being submitted with the appeal.

9.5.2.6. If your appeal relates to an application for advertisement consent or a discontinuance notice, please consider the guidance in 14.

9.5.3. Notification to interested people

9.5.3.1. Within one week of the start date the LPA must notify interested people:

- that an appeal has been made
- that any representations made to the LPA in relation to the application will be sent to the Planning Inspectorate and the appellant and will be considered by the Inspector when deciding the appeal
- how they can withdraw their earlier representations if they wish to do so
- that further written representations may be sent to the Planning Inspectorate's online <u>search facility (https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/)</u> within 5 weeks of the start date
- that the decision will be published online.
- 9.5.3.2. We encourage local planning authorities to use the <u>online model</u> <u>notification letter (https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-appeals-model-notification-letters-for-local-planning-authorities).</u>

9.5.4 LPA Questionnaire

- 9.5.4.1. The LPA must send a completed questionnaire and all relevant documents to us and the appellant within one week of the start date of the appeal.
- 9.5.4.2. The LPA must indicate on the questionnaire which appeal procedure it considers appropriate, taking account of the <u>criteria for procedure determination (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criteria-for-determining-the-procedure-for-planning-enforcement-advertisement-and-discontinuance-notice-appeals)</u>. If this differs from that determined by us, we will review the procedure.
- 9.5.4.3. The relevant documents considered during the application process should be sufficient to present the LPA's case. The LPA should notify us and the appellant (by indicating on the questionnaire that it does not intend to send a full statement of case at 5 weeks) if it decides to treat the

questionnaire, and supporting documents, as its full representations on an appeal.

9.5.5 LPA's statement of case at the 5-week stage

9.5.5.1. If the LPA decides it needs to make further representations, it should send its full statement of case to us within 5 weeks of the start date. This should not normally include new evidence or additional technical data. We will copy the full statement of case to the appellant. Please see 12 for further information on what to include in the statement of case.

9.5.6 Interested people's representations at the 5-week stage

- 9.5.6.1. Interested people notified of the appeal can rely on the representations they made to the LPA at the application stage, as these will forward these to us and the representations will be taken into account by the Inspector.
- 9.5.6.2. If having considered the appellant's full statement of case an interested person wishes to make representations or further representations, they should do so online using the search facility (https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/). If that isn't possible, the LPA will tell interested people how to submit representations by alternative methods. They should ensure that we receive them within 5 weeks of the start date. We will copy any representations received to the appellant and the LPA. There is normally no further opportunity for interested people to make representations after the 5-week stage.

9.5.7. Comments at the 7-week stage

9.5.7.1. We will copy any representations from interested people received at the 5-week stage to the appellant and the LPA. We will copy any full statement of case received from the LPA at the 5-week stage to the appellant. If either the appellant or the LPA wish to comment on any representations made at the 5-week stage, they must send their comments to us within 7 weeks of the start date. These comments should be concise and should not introduce new material or technical evidence. We will copy any such comments to the other appeal party for information only.

9.5.8. Site visit

- 9.5.8.1. Visits to the appeal site and any relevant neighbouring land or properties are normally carried out where it is necessary to assess the impact of a development on its surroundings. The purpose of the visit is solely to allow the Inspector or their representative to view the site and its surroundings.
- 9.5.8.2. Where the site is sufficiently visible from a road or other public viewpoints the visit will be carried out unaccompanied.

- 9.5.8.3. If access to the site is required, we will contact the appellant/agent with a date and usually a morning or afternoon time slot when the Inspector or their representative will carry out the site visit.
- 9.5.8.4. Similar arrangements will be made with individual neighbours where it is necessary to view the site from their property. The LPA should advise us (when completing the questionnaire) and the neighbour concerned if it thinks this may be necessary and provide us with the neighbour's contact details.
- 9.5.8.5. If the appellant's or agent's presence is required at the appeal site, it will be solely to provide access to the site. The LPA will not attend the site visit.
- 9.5.8.6. Where, during an unaccompanied site visit, the Inspector or their representative decides that they need to access the site, they may approach the occupants to gain permission/access.
- 9.5.8.7. In some circumstances it may be necessary for the Inspector or their representative to be accompanied by both the appellant (or agent) and a representative of the LPA, and, where appropriate, interested people. This is usually where we anticipate that those present will need to point out physical features that they have referred to in their written evidence.
- 9.5.8.8. A site visit is not an opportunity for anyone present to discuss the merits of the appeal or the written evidence they may have previously provided. The Inspector or their representative will therefore not allow any discussion about the case with anyone at a site visit. Sometimes, if it is an accompanied site visit, the Inspector or their representative may ask the invited parties to point out physical features that they have referred to in their written evidence.

9.5.9. Audio/Video evidence

9.5.9.1. We will return any audio/video evidence sent to us. We cannot accept audio or video evidence, as we cannot be sure that everyone involved has the same version or that they have the equipment needed to access the evidence. However, you may send a written summary.

9.5.10. Late documents

- 9.5.10.1. Sticking to the timetable is important for appeals to proceed quickly and fairly. Our start letters will include the dates by which documents, and comments must be received by us.
- 9.5.10.2. If we receive documents after the statutory time limits explained in this guide, normally we will return them, and they will not be seen by the Inspector. The Inspector will not accept any documents at the site visit.

9.5.10.3. Where there is a change in circumstances, we will consider accepting late documents. This includes but is not limited to:

- New or emerging policies the LPA must alert us in writing, as soon as possible, of any newly adopted or emerging policies that are relevant to the appeal - it should indicate the anticipated date of adoption of any emerging policy (the appellant may also do this in writing)
- A relevant decision is made on another case the LPA must alert us in writing, as soon as possible, if it makes a decision (either to grant or refuse planning permission or to issue an enforcement notice) on a similar development and it should alert us if it becomes aware of a decision on an appeal that is relevant (the appellant may also do this in writing)
- New legislation or national policy If anyone considers that changes to legislation or Government policy or guidance are a material consideration, they should inform us, in writing, as soon as possible.

9.5.10.4. We will only accept a late document if we are satisfied that:

- the content of the statement is not covered in evidence already received
- that it is directly relevant and necessary for their decision
- that it would be procedurally fair to all parties.

9.5.10.5. If we do accept a late document, this may disrupt the appeal timetable. In this case, the party that submitted the late document opens themselves up to a costs award as a result either of a costs application by another party or at the initiation of the Inspector. See 3.2 for further information on costs.

9.5.11. Postponements, adjournments and abeyance

9.5.11.1. Unless there are exceptional reasons, we will refuse requests to postpone the appeal or put it in abeyance. Appellants should therefore not make their appeal until they are ready to proceed to the decision.

9.5.12. Linked appeals

9.5.12.1. In some circumstances, we may decide to link appeals. For example, when multiple appeals relate to the same development.

9.5.12.2. We will make decisions to link on a case-by-case basis.

9.3.13. Use of artificial intelligence (AI) in casework evidence

9.3.13.1. If you use AI to create or alter any part of your documents, information, or data, you should tell us that you have done this when you provide the material to us. See the detailed guidance for further information (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/use-of-artificial-intelligence-in-casework-evidence).

10. Hearings

10.1. Timetables

10.1.1. Appeals following the hearing procedure will follow this timetable:

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant	LPA
Appeal received by us. We set the start date and the timetable (See 10.3)		Sends the appeal form, the full statement of case, all supporting documents and the draft statement of common ground to us and the LPA (See 10.4).	Receives the appeal documents
Within 1 week from the start date	Receive the LPA's letter about the appeal, telling them that they must send us any representations within 5 weeks from the start date (see 10.5)	Receives a completed questionnaire and any supporting documents from the LPA	Sends the appellant and us a completed questionnaire and supporting documents. It writes to interested people about the appeal (see 10.5-10.6)
Within 5 weeks from the start date	Send their representations to us (see 10.7)		Sends us its full statement of case and the agreed statement of common ground (See 10.9)
We confirm the hearing date			
At least 2 weeks	Receive details from the LPA about		Tells interested people about the

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant	LPA
before the date of the hearing	the hearing arrangements (See 10.8)		hearing arrangements and may put a notice in a local paper about the hearing (See 10.8)
No later than 10 working days before the hearing		If there is one, sends us the draft planning obligation	

The process is also summarized in this <u>flowchart</u> (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6245bac9d3bf7f32a7c011b1/Hearingsprocess_diagram_v2.pdf).

10.1.2. However, in the following circumstances:

• the time limit of 28 days applies (see 4.2)

if we decide that the appeal should be determined by a hearing, it will follow a different timetable:

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant	LPA
Appeal received by us. We set the start date and the timetable		Sends the appeal form and all supporting documents to us and the LPA	Receives the appeal documents
Within 2 week from the start date	Receive the LPA's letter about the appeal, telling them that they must send us any representations within 6 weeks from the start date	Receives a completed questionnaire and any supporting documents from the LPA	Sends the appellant and us a completed questionnaire and supporting documents. It writes to interested people about the appeal

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant	LPA
Within 6 weeks from the start date	Send their representations to us	Sends us their hearing statement	Sends us its hearing statement
We confirm the hearing date			
At least 2 weeks before the date of the hearing	Receive details from the LPA about the hearing arrangements		Tells interested people about the hearing arrangements and may put a notice in a local paper about the hearing
No later than 10 working days before the hearing		If there is one, sends us the draft planning obligation	

although the following section explains the timetable in 10.1.1, the same principles apply to this timetable.

10.2. The hearing procedure

10.2.1. The regulations that cover the procedure are <u>The Town and Country Planning (Hearings Procedure) (England) Rules 2000 (Statutory Instrument 2000/1626) (as amended)</u>

(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/1626/contents/made).

- 10.2.2. The hearing is a structured discussion led by the Inspector. The Inspector identifies the issues for discussion based on the evidence received and any representations made.
- 10.2.3. The hearing may include a discussion at the site, or the site may be visited on an accompanied (without any discussion), or unaccompanied basis.
- 10.2.4. A 'statutory party' is:

- an owner of the land which the appeal is about
- a tenant of an agricultural holding which the appeal is about
- in the case of a listed building consent appeal, an owner of the building

Statutory parties are entitled to attend the hearing.

- 10.2.5. Interested parties (see 8) can attend the hearing if the Inspector allows it the Inspector will usually allow this.
- 10.2.6. We may, at any point before the appeal decision, 'combine' procedures. Please see 6.3 for further information.
- 10.2.7. If the appeal relates to an application for advertisement consent or a discontinuance notice, please consider the guidance in section 14.

10.3. Setting the date of the hearing

10.3.1. We are responsible for setting the date of the hearing. The date will usually be 10-14 weeks from the start date so all parties must have their resources ready from the outset. We reserve the right to impose a date on either party

10.4. The appellant

10.4.1. The appellant must submit:

- Their appeal including their statement of case (see 12 for further information on the statement of case)
- A copy of the planning application
- The LPA's decision notice (if they issued a decision)
- The draft statement of common ground (see 13 of this guide we also have <u>separate guidance</u> (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statement-of-common-ground) on statements of common ground and a template)
- Any other essential supporting documents
- 10.4.2. Please use the following guides for further information on how to complete your appeal and what documents to include:
- How to complete your planning appeal form England
 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)

- How to complete your advertisement/discontinuance notice appeals form

 England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advertisement-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
- 10.4.3. We must receive the appeal within the time limit. The time limits for different types of appeal are outlined in 4.1.
- 10.4.4. After the appellant has submitted their appeal to us, they must also copy their appeal to the LPA.
- 10.4.5. The appellant may add to the information they provided to the LPA in their application. There is normally no opportunity to add to the statement of case later so the appellant should only make their appeal when they are sure they have finalised their case.

10.5. Notification to statutory parties and interested people

- 10.5.1. Within one week of the start date the LPA must notify 1) any statutory parties and 2) interested people who made comments about the application:
- that an appeal has been made
- that any representations made to the LPA in relation to the application will be sent to us and to the appellant and will be considered by the Inspector when deciding the appeal
- how they can withdraw their earlier representations if they wish to do so
- that further comments may be sent to to the Planning Inspectorate's online <u>search facility (https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/)</u> within 5 weeks of the start date
- that the decision will be published online.
- 10.5.2. We encourage LPAs to use the online <u>model notification letter</u> (<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-appeals-model-notification-letters-for-local-planning-authorities</u>).

10.6. LPA questionnaire

10.6.1. The LPA must send a completed questionnaire and all relevant documents to us and the appellant within one week of the start date of the appeal.

10.6.2. The LPA must indicate on the questionnaire which appeal procedure it considers appropriate, taking account of the <u>criteria for procedure</u> <u>determination (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criteria-for-determining-the-procedure-for-planning-enforcement-advertisement-and-discontinuance-notice-appeals)</u>. If this differs from that determined by us, we will review the procedure.

10.7. Statutory parties' and interested people's representations at the 5-week stage

10.7.1 Statutory parties and interested people can rely on the representations they made to the LPA on the application. The LPA will forward these representations to us, and they will be considered by the Inspector.

10.7.2 If a statutory party or an interested person wishes to make representations at the appeal stage they should do so online using the search facility (https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/). If that isn't possible, the LPA will tell interested people how to submit representations by alternative methods. They should ensure that we receive them within 5 weeks of the start date. We will copy any representations received to the appellant and the LPA.

10.8. Who tells people about the hearing?

10.8.1 We will tell the appellant, the LPA and any statutory party the date, time and place of the hearing and the name of the Inspector who will conduct it.

10.8.2 We will ask the LPA to forward this information about the hearing to:

- Anyone with an interest in the land (other than the appellant)
- those who made representations at the application and/or appeal stages
- those entitled to appear at the hearing
- anyone else it considers to be affected by or interested in the proposed development.

10.9. The LPA's full statement of case and the agreed statement of common ground at 5 weeks

- 10.9.1. The LPA must send their full statement of case and the agreed statement of common ground. We must receive them within 5 weeks of the start date. We will copy these documents to the appellant.
- 10.9.2. We will tell the appellant and the LPA the name and address of any statutory party who makes representations on the appeal. The appellant must send a copy of their full statement of case and the LPA must send a copy of its full statement of case and the agreed statement of common ground to any such statutory party.

10.10. Audio/Video evidence

- 10.10.1. We will return any audio/video evidence sent to us before the hearing. You may send a written summary which will be seen by the Inspector, and the main parties. Please send this within the 5-week deadline for representations. Also, you may ask the Inspector at the hearing if they are willing to accept the audio/video evidence and allow it to be played at the hearing.
- 10.10.2. It is your responsibility to contact the LPA to find out if it has suitable equipment at the venue to access the evidence, or if it will allow you to use your own. The equipment must be suitable to play the evidence so that everyone can see/hear it.
- 10.10.3. If the evidence is accepted by the Inspector, it will become part of the hearing evidence and will be retained by the Inspector. You will need to have additional copies of the audio/video evidence available because if the Inspector allows it to be played these copies will be given to the main parties. Our Case Officer will be able to tell you how many copies you will need to provide.

10.11. Late documents

- 10.11.1. Sticking to the timetable is important for appeals to proceed quickly and fairly. Our start letters will include the dates by which documents, and comments must be received by us.
- 10.11.2. If we receive documents after the statutory time limits explained in this guide, normally we will return them, and they will not be seen by the

Inspector.

10.11.3 Where there is a change in circumstances, we will consider accepting late documents. This includes but is not limited to:

- New or emerging policies the LPA must alert us in writing, as soon as possible, of any newly adopted or emerging policies that are relevant to the appeal - it should indicate the anticipated date of adoption of any emerging policy (the appellant may also do this in writing)
- A relevant decision is made on another case the LPA must alert us in writing, as soon as possible, if it makes a decision (either to grant or refuse planning permission or to issue an enforcement notice) on a similar development and it should alert us if it becomes aware of a decision on an appeal that is relevant (the appellant may also do this in writing)
- New legislation or national policy If anyone considers that changes to legislation or Government policy or guidance are a material consideration, they should inform us, in writing, as soon as possible.

10.11.4. The Inspector will only accept a late document if they are satisfied that:

- the content of the statement is not covered in evidence already received
- that it is directly relevant and necessary for their decision
- that it would be procedurally fair to all parties.

10.11.5. If the Inspector does accept a late document, this may disrupt the appeal timetable. In this case, the party that submitted the late document opens themselves up to a costs award as a result either of a costs application by another party or at the initiation of the Inspector. See 3.2 for further information on costs.

10.11.6. The Inspector will not accept any documents at the site visit.

10.12. Postponements, adjournments and abeyance

10.12.1. Unless there are exceptional reasons, we will refuse requests to postpone the appeal or put it in adjournment or abeyance. Appellants should therefore not make their appeal until they are ready to proceed to the decision.

- 10.13.1. In some circumstances, we may decide to link appeals. For example, when multiple appeals relate to the same development.
- 10.13.2. We will make decisions to link on a case-by-case basis.

10.14. Openness and Transparency

- 10.14.1. Hearings are open to journalists and the wider public, as well as interested people. As long as it does not disrupt proceedings, anyone will be allowed to report, record and film proceedings including the use of digital and social media. Inspectors will tell people present at the start of the event that the proceedings may be recorded and/or filmed, and that anyone using social media during or after the end of the proceedings should do so responsibly.
- 10.14.2. If anyone wants to record or film the event on equipment larger than a smart phone, tablet, compact camera, or similar, especially if that is likely to involve moving around the venue to record or film from different angles, they should contact us and the LPA in advance to discuss arrangements.

10.15. Use of artificial intelligence (AI) in casework evidence

10.15.1. If you use AI to create or alter any part of your documents, information, or data, you should tell us that you have done this when you provide the material to us. See the detailed guidance for further information (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/use-of-artificial-intelligence-in-casework-evidence).

11. Inquiries

11.1. Timetable

11.1.1 Appeals following the inquiry procedure will follow this timetable:

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant
At least 10 working days		Send notification of intention to submappeal to us (at

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant
before appeal submission (If the appellant wants to follow the inquiry procedure)		inquiryappeals@planninginspectorat and the LPA (See 11.5)
Appeal received. We ask the LPA for their views on the need for an inquiry. We set the start date and the timetable.		Sends the appeal form, statement of draft statement of common ground a supporting documents to us and the 11.5)
If we decide the appeal should proceed by way or written representations, or a hearing, the appeal will follow the relevant process/timetable set out in the Procedural Guide: Planning appeals - England.		
If we decide that the appeal will proceed by inquiry, we will set the inquiry date which will normally be within 13 -16 weeks of the start date.		
Within 1 week from the start date	Receive the LPA's letter about the	Receives a completed questionnaire supporting documents from the LPA 11.7).

from the start date. Case
Management
Conference
(CMC). An
Inspector will
normally hold a
Microsoft Teams
call with the
appellant, the LPA,
any party who has
been afforded Rule
6 status and
anyone else

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant
invited by the Inspector		
4 weeks before the inquiry	Rule 6 parties send us their proofs (See 11.12).	Sends us their proof of evidence (Se
At least 2 weeks before the inquiry	Receive details from the LPA about the inquiry arrangements (11.9).	Displays a notice on site giving detai inquiry.
No later than 10 working days before the inquiry		If there is one, sends us the draft pla obligation.

The process is further summarized in <u>this timeline</u> (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach_ment_data/file/847699/Inquiry_appeal_overview_diagram.pdf).

11.1.2. However, in these circumstances:

- the time limit of 28 days applies (see 4.2)
- recovered appeals (See 7.2)

if we decide that the appeal should be determined by an inquiry, it will follow a different timetable:

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant
At least 10 working days before appeal submission (If the appellant wants to follow the inquiry procedure)		Send notification of intention to submit an appeal to us (at inquiryappeals@planninginspectorate.gov. and the LPA
Appeal received. We set the start date and the timetable. We set the inquiry date which will normally be within 13 -16 weeks of the start date		Sends the appeal form and all supporting documents to us and the LPA. The grounds of appeal should make up the full case.
Within 2 weeks from the start date	Receive the LPA's letter about the appeal, telling them that they must send us any representations within 6 weeks of the start date and if any of them would wish to apply for Rule 6 status they should do so immediately	Receives a completed questionnaire and a supporting documents from the LPA

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant
Within 6 weeks from the start date	Send their representations to us	Sends us their inquiry statement and the statement of common ground that they hav agreed with the LPA.
Within 7 weeks from the start date. Case Management Conference (CMC). An Inspector will normally hold a Microsoft Teams call with the appellant, the LPA, any party who has been afforded Rule 6 status and anyone else invited by the Inspector		attend the CMC and be prepared to assist the Inspector in relation to any matters that have been set out in the agenda
4 weeks before the inquiry	Rule 6 parties send us their proofs.	Sends us their proof of evidence.

At least 2
weeks
before the
inquiry

Receive details from the LPA about the

Displays a notice on site giving details of thinquiry.

Timetable	Interested people	Appellant
	inquiry arrangements.	
No later than 10 working days before the inquiry		If there is one, sends us the draft planning obligation.

although the following section explains the timetable in 11.1.1, the same principles apply to this timetable.

11.2. The Inquiry procedure

11.2.1. The regulations that cover the vast majority of inquiries are The Town and Country Planning Appeals (Determination by Inspectors) (Inquiries Procedure) (England) Rules 2000 (Statutory Instrument 2000/1625)(as amended)

(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/1625/contents/made).

- 11.2.2. However, in the very small number of appeals where the appeal is 'recovered' by the Secretary of State (see 7.2), different regulations apply The Town and Country Planning (Inquiries Procedure) (England) Rules 2000 (Statutory Instrument 2000/1624) (as amended) (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/1624/contents/made).
- 11.2.3. An inquiry is the most formal of the procedures. Although it is not a court of law the proceedings will often seem to be quite similar. An inquiry is open to the public and provides for the investigation into, and formal testing of, evidence, usually through the questioning ("cross examination") of expert witnesses and other witnesses. Parties may be formally represented by advocates.
- 11.2.4. A formal site visit won't usually take place before the inquiry. However, the Inspector may visit the site alone before the inquiry.

11.2.5. A 'statutory party' is:

- an owner of the land which the appeal is about
- a tenant of an agricultural holding which the appeal is about

- in the case of a listed building consent appeal, an owner of the building
- Statutory parties are entitled to participate in the inquiry.
- 11.2.6. Interested parties (see 8) can participate in the inquiry if the Inspector allows it the Inspector will usually allow this.
- 11.2.7. We may, at any point before the appeal decision, 'combine' procedures. Please see 6.3 for further information.

11.3 Rule 6

- 11.3.1. Under rule 6 (6) of the inquiry regulations, we can require any interested person(s) that will attend the inquiry to submit a statement of case. They should send their statement of case to us. We will copy the statement of case to the LPA and the appellant.
- 11.3.2. An interested person that is required to submit a statement of case under this rule, becomes a 'rule 6 party'. We treat rule 6 parties like the main parties. For example, rule 6 parties will receive copies of the documents sent by us to the other main parties and can take part in drafting the statement of common ground. An interested person may apply for rule 6 status.
- 11.3.3. We usually grant rule 6 status to groups rather than individuals.
- 11.3.4. For further information, please see our <u>Guide to Rule 6 for interested parties involved in an inquiry planning appeals and called-in applications (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apply-for-rule-6-status-on-a-planning-appeal-or-called-in-application)</u>.

11.4 Setting the date of the Inquiry

- 11.4.1. We are responsible for setting the inquiry date. The inquiry date will usually be within 13-16 weeks of the start date. This means that all parties must have their resources ready from the start.
- 11.4.2. Once set, we will expect the length of the inquiry to stay within the agreed timetable.

11.5. The appellant

11.5.1. If the appellant wants their appeal to follow the inquiry procedure, they need to tell us and the LPA at least 10 working days before the appeal is submitted. They should complete the template

(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/notification-of-intention-to-submit-anappeal) and email it to the LPA and us at inquiryappeals@planninginspectorate.gov.uk.

11.5.2. The appellant must submit:

- Their appeal including their statement of case (see 12 for further information on the statement of case)
- A copy of the planning application
- The LPA's decision notice (if they issued a decision)
- The draft statement of common ground (see 13 of this guide we also have <u>separate guidance</u> (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statement-of-common-ground) on statements of common ground and a template)
- Any other essential supporting documents

11.5.3. Please use the following guides when making your appeal:

- How to complete your planning appeal form England
 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)
- How to complete your advertisement/discontinuance notice appeals form

 England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advertisement-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form/making-your-appeal-how-to-complete-your-advertisementdiscontinuance-notice-appeal-form)
- 11.5.4. We must receive the appeal within the time limit. The time limits for different types of appeal are outlined in 4.1.
- 11.5.5. After the appellant has submitted their appeal to us, they must also copy their appeal to the LPA.
- 11.5.6. The appellant may add to the information they provided to the LPA in their application. There is normally no opportunity to add to the statement of case later so the appellant should only make their appeal when they are sure they have finalised their case.

11.6. Notification to statutory parties and interested people

- 11.6.1. Within one week of the start date the LPA must notify 1) any statutory parties and 2) interested people who made comments about the application:
- that an appeal has been made
- that any representations made to the LPA in relation to the application will be sent to us and the appellant and will be considered by the Inspector when deciding the appeal
- that any request for Rule 6 status should be made to the Planning Inspectorate at this time
- how they can withdraw their earlier representations if they wish to do so
- that further written representations may be sent to the Planning Inspectorate's online <u>search facility (https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/)</u> within 5 weeks of the start date
- that the decision will be published online.
- 11.6.2. We encourage LPAs to use the <u>online model notification letter</u> (<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-appeals-model-notification-letters-for-local-planning-authorities</u>).

11.7. LPA questionnaire

11.7.1. The LPA must send a completed questionnaire and all relevant documents to us and the appellant LPA within one week of the start date of the appeal.

11.8. Statutory parties' and interested people's representations at the 5-week stage

- 11.8.1 Statutory parties and interested people can rely on the representations they made to the LPA at the application stage, as it will forward them to us, and the representations will be considered by the Inspector.
- 11.8.2 If a statutory party or an interested person wishes to make further representations at the appeal stage, they should do so online using the search facility (https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/). If that isn't possible, the LPA will tell interested people how to submit representations by alternative methods. They should ensure that we receive them within 5 weeks of the start date. We will copy any representations received to the appellant and the LPA.

11.9. Who tells people about the inquiry?

11.9.1 We will tell the appellant, the LPA and any statutory party the date, time, place and length of the inquiry and the name of the Inspector who will conduct it.

11.9.2 We will ask the LPA to forward this information about the inquiry to:

- Anyone with an interest in the land (other than the appellant)
- those who made representations at the application and/or appeal stages
- those entitled to appear at the inquiry
- anyone else it considers to be affected by or interested in the proposed development.

11.10. The LPA's full statement of case and the agreed statement of common ground at 5 weeks

- 11.10.1. The LPA must send their full statement of case (see 12) and the agreed statement of common ground (see 13). We must receive them within 5 weeks of the start date. We will copy these documents to the appellant.
- 11.10.2. We will tell the appellant and the LPA the name and address of any statutory party who makes representations on the appeal. The appellant must send a copy of their full statement of case and the LPA must send a copy of its full statement of case and the agreed statement of common ground to any such statutory party.
- 11.10.3. If there are any Rule 6 parties (see 13) they can be involved in producing a statement of common ground.

11.11. Case management conference (CMC)

- 11.11.1. This will take place with the appellant, LPA, Rule 6 parties and anyone else invited by the Inspector. It is normally conducted via a Microsoft Teams call hosted by us.
- 11.11.2. We may usually circulate a pre-meeting note. Amongst other things this will set out what the Inspector considers the main issues are likely to be and any other matters that may need to be addressed. The note will also set out how the Inspector thinks that the evidence can best be addressed, whether by cross examination, hearing, written representations or a

combination of these procedures in order to conduct the inquiry in the most efficient and effective manner (see 6.3).

- 11.11.3. The parties are requested to consider these matters, which will be discussed at the conference. The note will also be accompanied by an agenda.
- 11.11.4. The matters to be discussed will be decided by the Inspector but are likely to include:
- a preliminary identification of the main issues
- witnesses and the scope of their evidence
- how the evidence is to be examined, including consideration of topicbased approaches to formal evidence, potential round table discussions and written representations
- agreement on further matters through position statements, topic papers or updated statements of common ground
- identification of any additional technical reports, including timetable for sharing technical information
- potential for S106 agreements
- management of documents in the pre-inquiry period and at the inquiry
- pre-inquiry timetable for submission of documents
- 11.11.5. A note of the proceedings, which will include our decision on how the evidence is to be dealt with and which procedure or procedures will apply accordingly, will be produced within 5 working days of the case conference.
- 11.11.6. For some appeals the Inspector may decide to issue a Case Management Note rather than hold a Conference. In the largest cases the Inspector may decide to hold a Pre-Inquiry Meeting.

11.12. Proofs of evidence

- 11.12.1. A Proof of evidence is the document containing the written evidence about which a person appearing at an inquiry will speak.
- 11.12.2. It must be received by us no later than 4 weeks before the inquiry.
- 11.12.3. The case for the appellant, the LPA (and any Rule 6 party) should be set out in full in their 'statement of case'. The main role of a proof of evidence is to allow expert witnesses to:

- have previously provided evidence in one document which helps them to present their case at the inquiry
- give their professional opinion on evidence provided by other parties in their statements of case.

11.12.4. Proofs of evidence should:

- refer to the information that witnesses representing the appellant or the LPA wish the Inspector to consider
- cover only areas which remain at issue between the parties
- contain the witness's concisely expressed opinion and argument
- contain a clear cross reference to any supporting documents, for example containing data, analysis or copies of legal cases which should have been provided with the full statement of case
- not include new areas of evidence, other than any additional technical reports that were agreed at the CMC
- not repeat or quote national or local policy, but should provide policy name and paragraph numbers
- not include long irrelevant biographical detail of the witness
- 11.12.5. The evidence of each witness should address distinct topics and not overlap another's.
- 11.12.6. Witnesses and their advocates should limit the length of proofs. If the proof exceeds 1,500 words, it should be accompanied by a summary. It is normally only the summaries that will be read out at the inquiry.
- 11.12.7. Summaries should concentrate on the main points at issue. They must not introduce new or different evidence nor go beyond the scope of the text they summarise. It may sometimes be difficult to summarise complex technical evidence effectively, and the above advice is not intended to prevent witnesses properly explaining their evidence. Successful summaries of complex evidence will help to make the key points clearer and save time.
- 11.12.8. If the proof of evidence includes evidence given by an expert witness, please see 15.

11.13 Rebuttal Evidence

11.13.1. The inquiry procedure rules provide an opportunity for the LPA, Appellant and any Rule 6 parties to supplement their full statement of case with a proof of evidence which is to be provided well in advance of an event and mutually exchanged. This is considered to be fair and proportionate in

most cases and avoids the disruptive effect of evidence being provided later in the process.

- 11.13.2. Rebuttal evidence is not generally sought or encouraged. Nonetheless it can be useful in some instances, but must be limited to:
- Information contained within other proofs which was not known (or could not have been reasonably discovered) by the author of the rebuttal at the time that their original proof was prepared
- Matters which are of relevance, but which have only arisen after the exchange of evidence.
- 11.13.3. Rebuttal evidence should not be an opportunity for a witness to restate or emphasise their evidence or to raise arguments and evidence that could and should have been raised at the time of exchange of evidence. If such matters are included within a rebuttal, then the Inspector may require that such parts of the rebuttal (or where appropriate the whole rebuttal) is withdrawn from the proceedings.
- 11.13.4. Whenever evidence is provided outside of the Inquiry procedure rules, its acceptance will be at the discretion of the Inspector who will consider whether its acceptance would be in the interests of natural justice and would be fair to all other parties to the appeal and would not be disruptive to the process.

11.14 Audio/Video evidence

- 11.14.1. We will return any audio/video evidence sent to us before the inquiry. You may send a written summary which will be seen by the Inspector, and the main parties. Please send this within the 5-week deadline for representations. Before the inquiry, you may ask the Inspector if they are willing to accept the audio/video evidence and allow it to be played at the inquiry.
- 11.14.2. It is your responsibility to contact the LPA to find out if it has suitable equipment at the venue to access the evidence, or if it will allow you to use your own. The equipment must be suitable to play the evidence so that everyone can see/hear it.
- 11.14.3. If the evidence is accepted by the Inspector, it will become part of the inquiry evidence and will be retained by the Inspector. You will need to have additional copies of the audio/video evidence available because if the Inspector allows it to be played these copies will be given to the appeal parties. Our Case Officer will be able to tell you how many copies you will need to provide.

11.15. Late documents

- 11.15.1. Sticking to the timetable is important for appeals to proceed quickly and fairly. Our start letters will include the dates by which documents, and comments must be received by us.
- 11.15.2. If we receive documents after the statutory time limits explained in this guide, normally we will return them, and they will not be seen by the Inspector.
- 11.15.3. Where there is a change in circumstances, we will consider accepting late documents. This includes but is not limited to:
- New or emerging policies the LPA must alert us in writing, as soon as possible, of any newly adopted or emerging policies that are relevant to the appeal - it should indicate the anticipated date of adoption of any emerging policy (the appellant may also do this in writing)
- A relevant decision is made on another case the LPA must alert us in writing, as soon as possible, if it makes a decision (either to grant or refuse planning permission or to issue an enforcement notice) on a similar development and it should alert us if it becomes aware of a decision on an appeal that is relevant (the appellant may also do this in writing)
- New legislation or national policy If anyone considers that changes to legislation or Government policy or guidance are a material consideration, they should inform us, in writing, as soon as possible.
- 11.15.4. The Inspector will only accept a late document if they are satisfied that:
- the content of the statement is not covered in evidence already received
- that it is directly relevant and necessary for their decision
- that it would be procedurally fair to all parties.
- 11.15.5. If the Inspector does accept a late document, this may disrupt the appeal timetable. In this case, the party that submitted the late document opens themselves up to a costs award as a result either of a costs application by another party or at the initiation of the Inspector. See 3.2 for further information on costs.
- 11.15.6. The Inspector will not accept any documents at the site visit.

11.16. Postponements, adjournments and abeyance

11.16.1. Unless there are exceptional reasons, we will refuse requests to postpone the appeal or put it in adjournment or abeyance. Appellants should therefore not make their appeal until they are ready to proceed to the decision.

11.17. Linked appeals

- 11.17.1. In some circumstances, we may decide to link appeals. For example, when multiple appeals relate to the same development.
- 11.17.2. We will make decisions to link on a case-by-case basis.

11.18. Openness and Transparency

- 11.18.1. Inquiries are open to journalists and the wider public, as well as interested people. As long as it does not disrupt proceedings, anyone will be allowed to report, record and film proceedings including the use of digital and social media. Inspectors will tell people present at the start of the event that the proceedings may be recorded and/or filmed, and that anyone using social media during or after the end of the proceedings should do so responsibly.
- 11.18.2. If anyone wants to record or film the event on equipment larger than a smart phone, tablet, compact camera, or similar, especially if that is likely to involve moving around the venue to record or film from different angles, they should contact us and the LPA in advance to discuss arrangements.

11.19. Use of artificial intelligence (AI) in casework evidence

11.19.1. If you use AI to create or alter any part of your documents, information, or data, you should tell us that you have done this when you provide the material to us. See the detailed guidance for further information (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/use-of-artificial-intelligence-in-casework-evidence).

12. Statement of case

12.1. General

- 12.1.1. A full statement of case contains all the details and arguments (as well as supporting documents and evidence) which a person will put forward to make their case in the appeal. In general, appeals are determined on the same basis as the original application. Therefore, the appellant's submissions, including the statement of case, should not normally include new evidence or additional technical data not previously seen by the LPA and interested parties at the application stage, such as biodiversity report, highways statement or landscape and visual impact assessments.
- 12.1.2. The full statement of case conclusions should be briefly summarised at the end with appropriate references. The full statement of case should not normally exceed 3,000 words. Whilst this might not be appropriate in all circumstances, we expect it to be concise.
- 12.1.3. The appellant must provide their full statement of case, copies of any documents it refers to and any other evidence at the time of making their appeal regardless of the procedure requested.

Note: For appeals following the part 1 written representations procedure (see 9), appellants must submit their 'grounds of appeal' rather than a statement of case at the time of making their appeal. The present guidance on statement of case also applies to grounds of appeal.

- 12.1.4. The LPA provide their statement of case, copies of any documents it refers to and any other evidence later, depending on which procedure the appeal will follow. Please see 9.4.1, 9.5.1, 10.1 and 11.1 for the different timetables.
- 12.1.5. If we determine that an appeal, for which an inquiry was requested, should proceed by way of written representations or a hearing, there may be a time limited opportunity for the appellant to update their statement of case prior to the appeal being started. We will advise on this on a case-by-case basis.
- 12.1.6. For appeals against non-determination by the LPA, further appeal submissions during the timetable may be deemed acceptable by the appointed Inspector at their discretion.

12.2. The appellant's statement of case

12.2.1. In their statement of case, the appellant should fully support their opinion that the development should be granted planning permission.

12.2.2. It is the appellant's responsibility to ensure that, at the time they make their appeal, they can fully make their case.

12.2.3. The appellant's statement of case:

- Must contain full details of relevant facts and planning/legal arguments
- Must contain all available evidence
- Must be accompanied by all documents (including for example data, analysis or copies of legal cases), maps and plans and any relevant extracts to which the statement refers
- Should cite any statutory provisions, and if any case law is cited it should include the full legal citation and report reference
- Must include any data referred to and outline any assessment methodology and the assumptions used to support the arguments - this should be submitted as text with relevant imagery only
- should respond to the reasons for refusal set out in the LPA's decision notice focusing on areas of difference - where the appeal is against nondetermination (See 2), it must address the areas that the appellant considers most likely to comprise the LPA's objections to the development proposed
- Should include any responses to points raised at application stage especially points raised by interested people and planning officer reports/communications
- Should contain any policies or other documents not referred to by the LPA in their decision but considered to support the appellant's case
- · should describe any suggested mitigating factors
- should suggest any conditions (see 17) which they would be prepared to accept and provide the reasons for suggesting these
- · should focus on the areas of disagreement
- should indicate whether any discussions are ongoing to narrow or resolve areas of dispute, and/or whether any such discussions are anticipated
- should not normally include new evidence or additional technical data not previously seen by the LPA and/or interested parties at the application stage. If new technical evidence is exceptionally submitted, then it should be clearly identified with an explanation given as to why it is being submitted and why it was not previously submitted with the application
- must not contain inflammatory, racist or otherwise abusive language
- must not normally include any personal or otherwise sensitive information unless this information is essential to a fair determination of the case - If the submission of such information is considered essential, please keep in mind that we may need to make aspects of this information available to other parties or/and publicly available but subject to relevant legislative and regulatory constraints (The Planning Inspectorate takes its data protection responsibilities for the information you provide us with very seriously. To find out more about how we use and manage your personal

data, please go to our <u>privacy notice</u> (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-inspectorate-privacy-notices/customer-privacy-notice))

• must not contain links to websites, as websites can change over time

12.3. The LPA's statement of case

12.3.1. The LPA's full statement of case should be a succinct statement supporting the reasons for opposing the development.

12.3.2. The LPA's statement of case:

- Must be accompanied by all the factual evidence and documents the LPA relies on (including for example data, analysis or copies of legal cases) maps and plans and any relevant extracts to which the statement refers
- Must include any data referred to, and outline any assessment methodology and the assumptions used to support the arguments – this should be submitted as text with relevant imagery only
- Must set out both the planning and legal arguments which the LPA is putting forward as to why they consider planning permission should be refused (or why any conditions on a permission should be retained) -
- Must respond to the appellant's full statement of case, addressing each of the reasons for refusal set out in the decision notice (where a decision has been made) which are being pursued, focusing on areas of difference, or the likely reasons for refusal where the appeal is against non-determination
- Should cite any statutory provisions and case law (and contain the full report reference) it considers supports its arguments
- Should take due account of any representations received from interested people at application stage
- Should suggest any conditions which it would be prepared to accept and provide the reasons for suggesting these
- Should not, normally, introduce additional policies or raise new issues beyond those in the reasons for refusal (or likely reasons if the appeal is against non-determination)
- should not repeat or duplicate the planning officer's report
- Must not include any personal or otherwise sensitive information
- Should not contain links to websites, as websites can change over time.

13. Statement of common ground

13.1. Draft statement of common ground

- 13.1.1. For an appeal where the appellant wants to proceed by a hearing or an inquiry the appellant must provide a draft statement of common ground when making their appeal.
- 13.1.2. A draft statement of common ground is a written statement containing factual information about the proposal which the appellant reasonably considers will not be disputed by the LPA.
- 13.1.3. We advise the appellant to discuss the draft statement of common ground with the LPA before they make their appeal.

13.2. Agreed statement of common ground

- 13.2.1. Once the appeal is made the appellant and the LPA must prepare an agreed statement of common ground together. The LPA must ensure that we and any statutory party (See 10.2.4 and 11.2.5) receive a copy of it within 5 weeks of the start date.
- 13.2.2. A statement of common ground is essential to ensure that the evidence considered at a hearing or an inquiry focuses on the areas of disagreement between the appellant and the LPA. This should help to focus the parties' statements of case and, if the appeal is following the inquiry procedure, proofs of evidence, on areas of disagreement.
- 13.2.3. If before the 5-week stage there are any Rule 6 parties, they can be involved in producing the statement. For further information please see the Guide to Rule 6 for interested parties involved in an inquiry planning appeals and called-in applications England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apply-for-rule-6-status-on-a-planning-appeal-or-called-in-application).
- 13.2.4. The statement of common ground should clearly identify matters that are agreed between the appellant and the LPA. It should then identify matters that are in dispute (uncommon ground). The statement of common ground should:
- be concise and not duplicate information already submitted by any of the parties
- explain revisions or amendments to the original proposal and confirm if they were agreed at application stage
- include a list of the agreed plans and drawings on which the Inspector will be asked to base their decision and which were considered at application stage

- include a list of agreed and/or shared core documents, ministerial statements, and policies and references to any relevant passage of the <u>National Planning Policy Framework</u> (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2)
- include relevant statutory and emerging development plan policies, their status and the suggested weight to be attached to them and Supplementary Planning Guidance and Supplementary Planning Documents
- identify and provide the reference number(s) of any relevant appeal decisions relating to the site or neighbouring sites
- identify whether there is or is not agreement over measurements, agreed elements of the evidence and any technical studies that have been undertaken
- include a list of suggested conditions (agreed and not agreed) and include the reasons why the conditions are suggested
- say if there is a draft planning obligation which would satisfactorily address one or more of the reasons for refusal (see 18).

13.2.5 We advise appellants and LPAs to use our <u>separate guidance</u> (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statement-of-common-ground) on statements of common ground which supplements this guidance. We also provide and would advise parties to use our <u>statement of common ground template</u> (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statement-of-common-ground).

14. Advertisement and discontinuance notice appeals

14.1. General

- 14.1.1 The regulations that cover advertisement and discontinuance notice appeals are The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/783/contents/made).
- 14.1.2 For background information on express and deemed advertisement consent and discontinuance notices, please see the <u>planning practice</u> <u>guidance</u> (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/advertisements).

14.1.3 For information on how to make an appeal please see our guide <u>How to complete your advertisement/discontinuance notice appeals form — England (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advertisement-appeals-how-to-complete-your-appeal-form)</u>

14.2. Conditions

- 14.2.1. There is no need to suggest the standard conditions, which apply to all consents. These can be found at Schedule 2 of the 2007 Regulations (see 14.1.1).
- 14.2.2. All consents are automatically granted for 5 years, unless specifically stated (Regulation 14(7)). Therefore, you only need to suggest a time-limited condition if you think a period other than 5 years is necessary.
- 14.2.3. Suggested conditions for a hoarding or general advertisement should not usually seek to control content. However, conditions can control size or colour etc in relation to a specific advertisement, if required for amenity or public safety. Any suggestions for such conditions should be justified.
- 14.2.4. When suggesting a condition relating to illumination of advertisements it is useful to consider the 'Professional Lighting Guide 05 (PLG05) The Brightness of Illuminated Advertisements' produced by the Institution of Lighting Professionals.
- 14.2.5. The fact that conditions are suggested does not mean that the appeal will be allowed, and consent granted or that, if allowed, conditions will be imposed.
- 14.2.6. See 17 for more general information on the use of conditions in appeals.

14.3. Advertisements in special areas

14.3.1. If the appeal site is in an Area of Special Control of Advertisements, conservation area, or National Landscape, LPA statements should include maps outlining the boundaries of such areas. In relation to a site in an Area of Special Control of Advertisements this information could be crucial to the handling of the appeal and may affect whether consent can be granted. We do not hold information on Areas of Special Control of Advertisements, and we rely on the LPA to clearly state where this applies.

14.3.2. The specific duty in section 72 of the <u>Planning (Listed Building and Conservations Areas)</u> Act 1990 (as amended)

(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents) applies where a site is in a conservation area. However, that in section 66 regarding listed buildings does not apply, except where enforcement action is involved. Listed building consent as well as advertisement consent is normally required for advertisements attached to listed buildings, because the attachment generally comprises an alteration to the listed building affecting its character as a building of special architectural or historic interest. Where a listed building is involved the listed building description should be included in the LPA's statement.

14.3.3. If the LPA has refused listed building consent or failed to determine the application for listed building consent within time, it is helpful to make any listed building consent appeal at the same time as making the advertisement appeal so that they can be considered together.

14.4. Discontinuance notices

- 14.4.1. A discontinuance notice can be issued only against an advertisement displayed with deemed consent. It is a formal document that, once it takes effect, can result in conviction for non-compliance.
- 14.4.2. The LPA issuing the discontinuance notice is not required to notify the recipient of their right of appeal against the notice. However, LPAs are expected, as a matter of good practice, to notify recipients of their right of appeal.
- 14.4.3. The LPA should state (in their 6-week representations or in their hearing statement as appropriate) whether the discontinuance notice is part of a wider campaign and if not, why action has been taken against this particular site/advert. This is particularly useful where the appellant has referred to other advertisements in the area which, in their view, have a comparable impact to the appeal display/site.

15. Expert evidence

15.1. Expert evidence is evidence that is given by a person who is professionally qualified to express an opinion on a particular subject. It can be used in all appeals.

- 15.2. It is the duty of an expert to help the Inspector. This duty overrides any duty the expert may have to the party that involved them in the appeal or that is paying them.
- 15.3. The evidence should be accurate, concise, and complete and should represent the expert's honest and objective opinion. If the expert belongs to a professional body that has a code of practice on professional conduct dealing with giving evidence, the expert is expected to comply with the code.
- 15.4. Expert evidence should include an endorsement such as that set out below or similar (such as that required by a particular professional body):

"The evidence which I have prepared and provide for this appeal reference APP/xxx (in this proof of evidence, written statement or report) is true [and has been prepared and is given in accordance with the guidance of my professional institution] and I confirm that the opinions expressed are my true and professional opinions." This will enable the Inspector and others involved in an appeal to know that the material in a proof of evidence, written statement or report is expert evidence.

15.4.1. Giving expert evidence does not prevent an expert from acting as an advocate so long as it is made clear through the endorsement or otherwise what is expert evidence and what is not.

16. Amending the proposed scheme once an appeal has been made

- 16.1 The appeal process should not be used to evolve a scheme and there are no provisions within the Rules for amendments to be submitted. It is important that what is considered by the Inspector at appeal is essentially the same scheme that was considered by the LPA and by interested parties at the application stage.
- 16.2 Where amendments are proposed during the appeals process despite the general principle outlined above, the Planning Inspectorate will consider whether, exceptionally, to accept them.
- 16.3 As per the judgement in Holborn Studios Ltd v The Council of the London Borough of Hackney (2018), which refined the "Wheatcroft principles" set out in Bernard Wheatcroft v Secretary of State for the Environment (1982), two tests will be considered:
- Substantive whether the proposed amendment(s) involves a "substantial difference" or a "fundamental change" to the application. If the Planning

- Inspectorate's judgement is that the amendment(s) would result in a "different application", then it is unlikely that the amendment could be considered as part of the appeal. It is also possible that a series of small incremental amendments to a scheme could result in a "substantial difference" or a "fundamental change"
- Procedural whether, if accepted, the proposed amendment(s) would cause unlawful procedural unfairness to anyone involved in the appeal (i.e. since consultation is a statutory requirement at the application stage, if the scheme is amended at appeal, it may be unfair on interested parties and consultees whose views and comments were about the original proposals, not the amended proposals). The change need not be 'substantial' or 'fundamental' to require re-consultation. Even potentially beneficial changes may need to be subject to re-consultation, so that interested parties can consider whether that would be the case. The decision on whether to accept the amendment without re-consultation will be taken in the context that consultation is an important part of the planning system, the nature and extent of the changes and the potential significance to those who might be consulted.
- 16.4 In many instances accepting an amendment without it being subject to re-consultation would result in procedural unfairness. As a result, an amendment will not be accepted if fairness requires consultation, and that consultation has not taken place. To ensure the effective and efficient administration of appeals the appeal timetable will not be paused to permit further consultation.
- 16.5 Any proposed amendments should be submitted at the outset of the appeal, so as not to compromise the efficient running of the appeal. Exceptionally, Inspectors may accept amendments later in the process if it is responding to something that could not have been known about at the time of making the appeal, and accepting the amendment would adhere to the guidance on the substance of the change and procedural fairness outlined above.

17. Planning conditions

- 17.1. The appellant should state on the appeal form if they wish to accept or can suggest a planning condition(s) that they think would mitigate the impact of the proposal. The LPA should do this in their questionnaire or on a separate document alongside its full statement of case.
- 17.2. The appellant and LPA should read the <u>planning practice guidance on</u> the use of planning conditions (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/use-of-planning-conditions); and Appendix A "Suggested Models of Acceptable Conditions for Use in Appropriate Circumstances" (which is still in existence) to Circular

11/95: Use of conditions in planning permission (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-use-of-conditions-in-planning-permissions-circular-11-1995) (which has been cancelled).

17.3. The fact that conditions are suggested does not mean that the appeal will be allowed and planning permission granted or that, if allowed, conditions will be put on the permission. A hearing or inquiry will usually include a discussion about the conditions which may be imposed if the proposal is granted planning permission.

18. Planning obligations

18.1. For guidance on how to use planning obligations please see our <u>good practice guide to planning obligations</u>
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-obligations-good-practice-advice).

18.2. Deadlines for the receipt of planning obligations

18.2.1. Planning obligations received after the following deadlines will be taken into account only at the Inspector's discretion. The Inspector will not delay the issue of a decision to wait for an obligation to be executed unless there are very exceptional circumstances.

18.2.2. Written representations

18.2.2.1. If the appeal is following the written representations procedure (see 9) the appellant must ensure that we receive an executed and certified copy of the planning obligation at the time of making their appeal.

18.2.3. Hearings and inquiries

18.2.3.1. There should be continuous dialogue between the parties before the hearing or inquiry about the draft planning obligation to ensure that the final draft is as good as it can be.

- 18.2.3.2. The appellant should make sure that a final draft, agreed by all parties to it, is received by us no later than 10 working days before the hearing or inquiry opens. The Inspector's and other parties' preparation for the hearing or inquiry is likely to be significantly disrupted if this deadline is not met.
- 18.2.3.3. We ask for a final draft, rather than an executed planning obligation, to allow for the possibility that the wording may need to be changed at the hearing or inquiry. The planning obligation should normally be executed before the hearing or inquiry closes, without the need for an adjournment. However, if that is not practicable the Inspector will agree the details for the receipt of the executed planning obligation with the appellant and the LPA at the hearing or inquiry.
- 18.2.3.4. The Inspector will normally ask the appellant to certify that the executed obligation is identical to that discussed at the hearing or inquiry, save only for the signing and dating of the document.

19. The decision

19.1 When made, the decision will be published online and can be viewed using the <u>search facility</u> (https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/).

20. Complaints, challenges and feedback

20.1. Challenge an administrative decision

- 20.1.1. If the appellant, LPA or an interested person believe that we have made an incorrect administrative decision in the way we have processed the appeal, they should write to our Case Officer giving clear reasons why they think we should review our decision. We will review the decision and if we choose to stick with the original decision, we will explain why.
- 20.1.2. There is no statutory right to challenge an administrative decision in the High Court. However, it is possible to make an application for judicial review. Rule 54.5(5) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 (as amended) (https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/rules) requires that an application for judicial review relating to a decision of the Secretary of State (our administrative staff make decisions about the processing of an appeal

on behalf of the Secretary of State) under the planning acts, must be made not later than 6 weeks after the grounds to make the claim first arose.

20.1.3. However, if the appeal is decided before the end of this time limit then the only way to challenge decisions by administrative staff would be as part of the challenge to the appeal decision itself through the High Court (see 20.4).

20.2. Complaints

20.2.1. If after the decision on an appeal has been published, we receive a complaint against an Inspector's decision or the Inspector or the way we administered a case, it is dealt with by our Customer Quality team who are independent of the teams that process cases. All complaints are investigated thoroughly and impartially. See our <u>guide to our complaints</u> <u>procedure (https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure)</u>.

20.3. Slip rule

- 20.3.1. Please note that, once issued, we are unable to change the appeal decision. The only way to do so is a successful High Court challenge.
- 20.3.2. However, under <u>section 56 of the Planning and Compulsory</u> Purchase Act 2004

(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/56#:~:text=56Correction%20of%20errors%20in%20decisions&text=

- (a)if%20he%20is%20requested,is%20considering%20making%20the%20correction
-), we have the power to correct certain types of errors on our decision notices. This is known as the 'Slip Rule'. The only corrections we can make are ones which would not change the appeal decision.
- 20.3.3. If any person wants us to consider correcting a decision, they should explain clearly what error they think has been made.
- 20.3.4. Any request must be received within the High Court challenge period 6 weeks beginning with the day after the date of the decision.
- 20.3.5. On receipt of a request, we will decide whether a correction should be made. If we issue a correction notice, it will be accompanied by an amended decision (superseding the original decision) which has full legal status. That decision will carry a fresh date and will replace (and be subject to the same provisions as) the original in all respects.

20.3.6. To make a request, contact the Customer Quality team:

Customer Quality Team
The Planning Inspectorate
Temple Quay House
2 The Square
Bristol
BS1 6PN

Phone: 0303 444 5000

<u>Customer Form: Customer Services and general enquiries (https://contact-us.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/hc/en-gb/requests/new).</u>

20.4. High Court challenges

- 20.4.1. There is a statutory right to challenge the decision on whether to allow or dismiss the appeal (the appeal decision) in the High Court. To do this, you must first apply for permission to submit the challenge.
- 20.4.2. There is also a statutory right to challenge costs decisions made in connection to an appeal decision in the High Court. To do this, you must first apply for permission to submit the challenge.

20.5. Deadlines for making a High Court challenge

20.5.1. Permission to make a challenge must be sought within 6 weeks beginning with the day after the date of the appeal or costs decision.

20.6. Eligibility for making a High Court challenge

20.6.1. Any aggrieved person may make a High Court challenge.

20.7. Further guidance on High Court challenges

- 20.7.1. Please see the Administrative Court's detailed guidance on making a High Court challenge for further information:
- Administrative Court: bring a case to the court (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/administrative-court-bring-a-case-to-the-court)
- Administrative Court (https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/administrative-court)

20.8. If a High Court challenge succeeds

- 20.8.1. The appeal returns to the Planning Inspectorate for 'redetermination'. The Inspector re-determining the appeal may come to the same decision that gave rise to the challenge but for different or expanded reasons. We usually appoint a different Inspector to make the decision.
- 20.8.2. We give priority to re-determination cases and they are usually handled quickly.
- 20.8.3. Where the appeal was originally dealt with by written representations, we would normally re-determine it by means of further written representations. However, where there has been a material change in circumstances, we may opt for a different procedure, having regard to the criteria for procedure determination
- (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criteria-for-determining-the-procedure-for-planning-enforcement-advertisement-and-discontinuance-notice-appeals/criteria-for-determining-the-procedure-for-planning-enforcement-advertisement-and-discontinuance-notice-appeals).
- 20.8.4. Where the appeal was originally dealt with by hearing, we would normally re-determine it with an inquiry because we consider that an inquiry would be needed to fully examine the legal issues raised in court. However, where all parties agree that a hearing would be appropriate, we will take this into account when determining the procedure for the re-determined appeal.
- 20.8.5. Where the appeal was originally dealt with by an inquiry, we would normally re-determine it with an inquiry.
- 20.8.6. All the documents from the original appeal will be seen by the Inspector appointed to the re-determination. Where there have been significant changes in circumstances since the original decision, the Inspector would normally allow parties to submit further evidence to address these.
- 20.8.7. The redetermination will not normally follow the usual timetables. We will write to the main parties, and interested parties if appropriate, to let them know what will happen.

20.8.8. Arrangements for redetermination of costs decisions may differ.

20.8.9. We would normally try to agree dates for a hearing or an inquiry through our standard procedure. Where the re-determined case is proceeding by written representations, we would normally contact the parties to arrange a further site visit, unless it has been agreed that a further site visit is unnecessary.

20.9. Commencing development before the time limit for a High Court challenge passes

20.9.1. There is a risk in commencing development before the High Court challenge time limit has expired. This is because if the planning permission is quashed by the Court, development will become unlawful. The LPA may take enforcement action against development that exists without a valid planning permission.

20.10. Further information on High Court challenges

20.10.1. Further advice about making a High Court challenge can be obtained from:

Administrative Court at the Royal Courts of Justice Queen's Bench Division
Strand
London
WC2A 2LL

Phone: 020 7947 6655

The Administrative Court's GOV.UK website (https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/administrative-court)

20.10.2 The contact details of our High Court team are:

High Court Team
The Planning Inspectorate
Temple Quay House
2 The Square,
Bristol
BS1 6PN

Phone: 0303 444 5000

Email: HighCourt@planninginspectorate.gov.uk

20.10.3 To contact the Ombudsman:

The Parliamentary & Health Service Ombudsman Millbank Tower Millbank London SW1P 4QP

Helpline: 0845 0154033

Ombudsman website (https://www.ombudsman.org.uk/)

Email: phso.enquiries@ombudsman.org.uk

20.11. Feedback

20.11.1. We welcome feedback about people's experience of dealing with us. This can be provided to us at any time. Please send your feedback to <u>Customer Form: Customer Services and general enquiries (https://contact-us.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/hc/en-gb/requests/new)</u>.

21. Contacting us

21.1 To discuss a particular appeal please contact our Case Officer – the LPA can provide their details, or they can be found online using the <u>search facility (https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/)</u>. For general enquiries our contact details are:

The Planning Inspectorate
Customer Support Team
Temple Quay House
2 The Square
Bristol
BS1 6PN

<u>Customer Form: Customer Services and general enquiries (https://contact-us.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/hc/en-gb/requests/new).</u>

Helpline: 0303 444 5000

22. Getting help

22.1. The following organisations offer free, independent and professional planning advice to communities and individuals who cannot afford to pay professional fees:

Planning Aid

Planning Aid England 41-42 Botolph Lane London EC3R 8DL

Email: info@planningaid.rtpi.org.uk

Planning Aid website (https://www.rtpi.org.uk/planning-advice/)

The Environmental Law foundation

Helpline: 0330 123 0169

Email: info17@.elflaw.org

Environmental Law foundation website (https://elflaw.org/)

Advocate

Advocate
The National Pro Bono Centre,
48 Chancery Lane,
London,
WC2A 1JF

DX: 188 London Chancery Lane

Telephone: 020 7092 3969

Advocate Website (https://weareadvocate.org.uk/)

23. How we use your personal information

23.1. The Planning Inspectorate takes its data protection responsibilities for the information you provide us with very seriously. To find out more about how we use and manage your personal data, please go to our privacy notice/customer-privacy-notice).

OGL



All content is available under the Open Government Licence v3.0, except where otherwise stated